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Leonard Prescott; individually, and as
cuirent and former officer-and/or:director

of Little Six, Inc.

Defendant,

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

L. The History and Présent Status of the Proceedings

In this matter, the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux (Dakota) Gaming Biterprise
(“the Gaming Enlerprise”), as successor and-assipnee of Little: Six, Inc. (“LST™), seeks
reimbursement from the Defendant for payments, fotaling $520,3 89.46, made by LSI to
‘the:Kelley Law Office (“the Kelley Office”) in 1994, The Gamning Biiterpiise contends:
that the entirety of "ﬂld_se:payments- werit to pay for work done by the Kelley Office in
defense of the tribal gaming license of the Defendatit, Leonard Prescott, and that the
entire amonint of those payments should be:reimbursed by Mr: Prescott, with interest, by

virtug of 4 fepaynient commitmeit that. Mr. Prescott executed on May 9, 1994, The
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Gaming Enterptise also seeks both interest on the.claimed amount, from 1994 forward,
and its réasonable attorneys fees and costs incurred in this litigation.

These proceedings have along history. LSIwas a cotporation chartered by the
Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux (Dakota) Community. (“the Community”) to own and
operate the Community’s gaming fcilities, In 1994, and for several years before 1994,
Mr: Prescott was Chairtivan of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of LSL
Cornsequently, under section 11 of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of 1988, 25 U.S.C.
§2710, in order to hold his offices within LSI Mr. Prescoit wasobliged to possess a valid
gaming license issued by the Community’s Gaming Commission (“thie Gaming
Commission”),

In 1994, M. Prescott’s suitability to continue to hold such a license became a
subject of proceedings before the Gaming Commission; and ns those proceedings began
ML, Prescott askéd the Board of Directors-of LSI to in&emn‘ify him in advance for the -
attoreys fees and expenses that he would incur. In mziki’ng-this_rﬁeqncst; Mr., Prescott
agreed to repay LSI, under certain circumstances.

On February 17; 2004, I conchided that thoses circumstanices had, in fact,
ocourred, and [ therefore awarded summary judgnient to LST on that issue. The question
before me today is: what amourit does M. Prescott owe, as a result of his May 9, 1994
commitment?

‘The fact that this question must be decided now, nearly eleven years after Mr,
Prescott sade the cormitment, is a reflection and a consequence of the extraordinary

nature:of the struggle over Mr. Prescott’s license. The struggle produced no less than

five reported decisions from this Court.and our Cotirt 6f Appeéals: In re; Prescott Appeal,




1 Shak T,C. 190 (Dec. 8, 1994); In re: Prescott Appeal. 1 Shak A.C. 11 {(Nov. 7, 1995); In

ré; Prescott Appeal, 3 Shak T.C. 19 (Feb. 20, 1997); In:re: Prescott Appeal, 1 Shak A.C.

120 (Apr:-30;:1998); and In re: Prescott Appeal, 1 Shak A.C. 146/ (7 uly 30, 1999). The

strupgle ended — at least with respect to the gaming license - in 1999; when the last-cited
decision.of our Couirt of Appeals wis handed down. That decision held that substantial
evidence supported a determination by the Gaming Commission that Mr. Prescott was
unsiiitable for continued licensure,

But Lin.,another sense the struggle continues, becavise after that Court of Appeals -
decision was rendered, LSI asked Mr. Prescott to reimburse the amiounts that LSI had
paid to-the Kelley Office on his behalf in 1994, and Mr. Prescott declined that-request.
LSI then commenced the present case;

Mr, Prescott responded by moving fo dismiss LSI’s complaint on res Judicdta and

official immunity grounds. That motion was denied, Little Six, Tnc. v. Prescott, 4 Shak.

T.C. 73 (August.8,.2000), and Mr. Prescott sought and was granted a certification for an.
interlocutory-appeal. On appeal, the dismissal friotioni’s denial was affirmed in Prescott
¥, Little Six, Ine,, 1 Shak. A.C. 190 (Oet, 26, 2001}, Upon rernand, the-parties engaged in

discovery, which produced its own conflicts, (See Little Six, Ine, v. Prescott, 4 Shak.

T.C. 169:[April 7, 2003]). Atilie-conclusion of:discovery, LSLmoved for summary-
judgient; and on February 17, 2004, I'granted LSI’s motion in part and dered it in part.
Specifically, I granted the summary judgment on the issue of M. Prescott’s liability to
reimburse LS): for the fees and expenses that LS had paid on his behalf; but.T denied the
motion with respect to the particular dollar amotitit of those fees and expenses, because

M. Prescott hiad oredibly argued that duting the pertinent period the Kelley Office had
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been performifig services for L8 as well as forfiim, and that he should not be obliged to
reimburse LSD’s payments for LSI*8 own work.,

A trial therefore was necessary to establish the dollar amounts paid by LSI to the
Kelley Office for work done'to d’efend;M,r.w Prescott’s license. That trial took place on
August 23 and 24, 2004, Thereafter, the parties filéd post-trial briefs; and then,as a
consequence of a filing difficuity; on February 4, 2003 the parties were obliged t6 re-file
all'exhibits that- were received during that trial’,

On Pebruary 14, 2005, LSI and the Gaming Enterprise jointly moved to substitute
the Gamirg Enterprise for LST a3 the party plaintiff in the proceedings, Mr. Prescott did
1ot file a résporise, and that motion was granted on April 27, 2005,

Today, I decide the amount that Mr, Prescott should reimburse LSI pursuant to his
agreement. I also decide the plaintiff’s ¢laims for interest and for reasondble:attomeys

fees and expenses incuired in these proceedings.

IL. Factual Backgronnd

In:1994, there-existed a.very significant degree of tension between Mr: Prescott
and other members ofthe LSI Board.of Directors, on the one hand, and the officers of the
Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux. (Dakota) Commumity, on the other hiand, The General
Council of the 'Gﬁmn;ﬁn'iiy;ﬁad changed the manner in which persons could become
members:of the Cofnmunity. Mr: Prescott and otlier menibers of the LSI Board strongly
| objected to that chanige, and the L8I Board had authorized the Kelley Office to represent

LSLini challenges to that cliange. (See e.g., Exhibit 42) Alsoy in response to-claims made;

'; Citations to exhibits herein are to the exhibit numbers given the cited documents
int the:tridl record. Citations to the transcript are to-page. numbers, as “T. [page]”:




in local media stoties to the effect that LSI was a poorly performing business entity, Mk,
Prescott had released to the public certain financial information, to the extreme
consternation of the Community’s officers; and irenbers of the Community’s General
Council questionéd the business practices of LSI and certain expenditures that LSI had
made, allégedly fot the benefit of Mr. Prescott. LST engaged the Kelley Office, puisuant
to several retainer letters, to perform legal work for LST'on thege matters, as well.. (T. 13-
14-and 252-253, and Exhibits 38 - 42),

On May 5, 1994, the Gaming Commission issued temporiry emergency
stispensions-of the gaming licenses of Mr. Prescott and of Mr. F. William Johnson. (Mr,
Johnsori was at that time was the Clifef Bxecutive Officer of LSI). Inresponse, Mr.
Prescott engaged the Kelley Office to assist him in protecting his license; and he sought
iridemnification from LST for the cost of that assistance, (T. 26-30), Therefore, on May 9,
2004, the Kelley Office prepared another retainer letter, addressed to.Ms. Allene Ross, a
member-of the Board of LS1.. That letter said, in pertingiit part —

Dear Allenie:

This letter will confirm that Little Six Inc. (the “Cotporation”) has retained the

law. firm of Douglas A, Kelley, P.A., to represent its officers and/or dire Stofs,

inchidifg but not limited to Leoniard Prescott and . William Johnson? imany and
all proceedings befare the Shakopes Mdewalkanton Sioux Coritiunity Gaming

Commission (the “Commiission”) and any court of competent jurisdiction arising

from the Commission’s suspension, threaténed suspension or other-action

affecting such individual’s gaming licenses. Because Atticle:14.0f the:

Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation requires indemnification of officers and

directors for expenses incurred i connection with the deferise of any action, civil

or crinitial, to which they: are made parties by reason of being amofficer or
direstor, and to ensure adeqnate legal representation of such-officers and

® As noted above, at this:time Mr. Johnson was the subject of a licensing inquiry-similar
to that involving Mr. Prescott; but Mr. Johnson siibsequently resigned his position shorily

thereafler, and no licensing proceedings against him went forward, (T. 53-54),




directors, the Corporation wishes to retain this firm. The following sets forth the
terins of our representation,

1. This law firm agrees to represent the Corporation’s officers and ditgctors,
including but not limited to M. Prescott and.Mr. Johnson, in-all phases of
legal representation arising from any challengeo their gaming license. This
representation may include, but is .ot limited to appearances before and
preparation of submitssions to; the Commigsion, challenges to the
Commission’s authority before any-court of competent jirisdiction, legal.
resgarch, factualirvestigation, witnsss preparation, retention of.expert:
‘witnesses; attendance at any-and all yequired hearings and other proceedings,
and dny necessary appeals o any ¢ourt of competent jurisdiction including the
Shakopee Mdewakanton Sionx Community Tribal Couirt,

(Exhibit &),

Ms. Ross countersigned this retainer letter on May 9, 2004, (1d.)

Also on May 9, 2004, Mt. Prescott addressed to 1.SI's Board of Directors the

letter upon which the Gaming Enterprise; as suecessor to LI, makes-its claim here, M.

Prescott’s letter, again:drafted by the Kelley Office. (T, 46-47, and Fxhibit 15,p. 13),

saids

May 9, 1994

Board:of Directors
Little §ix, Tiic,

2400 Mystic Lake Blvd.
Prior'Lake, MN 55372

‘Re: Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux, Community Gariinig Commission File

No: 94-0024.
Dear Board Méembers:

As an Officer and Director of Little Six, Inc. (the “Corporation™), T hereby
reqiest advarios fridemnification oF all ¢ expenses, mcludmg reasonable
attorneys” fees, costs:and disbursements, incurred in connection with
defense of the above referenced proceeding to which I have been made a
party by reason of my position as ati officer or difector of the Corporation.




In connection with this tequest for indemnification, I'certify that all times
1(i) acted in good faith; (if) with the care-of an otdinatily prudent person
under the ejrcumstances and (fi) in a manner I'reasoniably believed to be
i the best interests of the Corpotation,

I agree to. repay the Corporation all amounts advanced in connection with
any part the [sio] defense of the'ahove proceeding for whicl I am finally-
adjudged to be linble for negligence, fraud ormisconduct in the
performance of my duties to the Cotporation,

Sincerely;
[signed]
Leonard Prescott

(Bxhibit7).
Inresponse to Mr. Prescott’s letter, the Board of Directors of LST approved a
“Written Action of the Board-of Directors Taken ini Lieu. of a Meetitig” -~ still on May 9,
2004 — the operative language of whichi'was as follows:

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the non-interested
directors of the Board of'Directors hereby determine that the Conpany is
required to indemnify Messts, Prescott and Johnson-with respect to
expenses incurred in conhection witli tlie defense of the [Gaming]
Commission’s purported suspension of the Licenses [of My Prescott and
Mr, Jotinson], and that in order to-fulfill this itidemnification: obligation in
such a manner-as tg-ensure adequate legdl representation of Messrs.
Prescott and Johnson, the officers-of thie Conipany are hereby authorized
an directed to enter info a retainer Tetter with and issuera $100,000 retainer
to the law firm of Douglas A, Kelley; P.A. for the representation of
Messts; Prescott and Johnson before the Commission or any coutt of
competent jurisdiction in connection with the purported suspension of the
Licenses;

FURTHER RESOLVED, that Douglas A. Kelley; P.A. is hereby
authorized fo withidraw: finds from the retainer in payment of the legal
services-authorized by these resolutions, in such amounts-and at such
times-as these expenses are iticurted;

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Conipany’s officets are hereby
authorized and directed to pay-any fees of Douglas A. Kellsy, P.A.,, or any
other fees incuirred with respect to these matters, which exceed the amourit
of the retainet, it such time and in such amounts assubmitted. to the
Company following depletion of the retainer; and




FURTHER RESOLVED, that Messrs. Prescott and.Johnson shall
reimburse the Company in the event that the non-interested directors find
that 4 final detertnination has been made thereafter that Messrs, Prescott
and Johnson arg liable for negligenice, fraud or. misconductinthe
performance of their duties to the Company; which determiriation shall not
be established solely by a permanent suspension of the Licenses and
which-amourit:shall be determined by the non-interested directors.
(Exhibit 8).

Followirg the approval of this Written Action, the 1.SI Board provided a $100,000.00

rétainer to the Kelley Office, and the Kelley Office deposited.that amount in its:lawyer’s

trust account’,

‘These actions by Mr. Prescott, the Kelley Office, and the L.SI Board of Directors
wera taken after the Kelley Office had sought-and received certain advice from thelaw
firm of Lindquist & Venmim concerning the scope of and procedures for corporate
indemnification of M, Prescott, The Lindquist & Ventum firm advised the Kelley
Office. that T.SI’s indeinnification of Mr. Prescolt, .and of any other officers and directors
of the corporation who thight be:subject to Gaming Commission’s procedures, was:
appropriateif, infer alia, in advance:1,SL had received . ..a-wriiten undertaking by them
1o repay. all-amounts-advanced, if its ultimately determined that they ate not entitled to

indemnification unider Article 14 [of LSI"s Articles of Incorporation]”. (Exhibit 5%).

* Oddly,.the retainer-affangéments described in the Kelley Office’s retainer letter (Exhibit
6); and the retainerarrangements described in the Boatd’s Written Acfion (Exhibit 8)are:
1ot the same'(see €.g., T. 334 — 338); and actually the mannerin which the Kelley
Office’s bills were submitted to L], and in which thie balance ofthe retainer periodically
‘was drawn:down and replenished, do not appear to have strictly-followed the Processes
contemplated by either doctiment. (Ses e.g., T. 49 = 52 and Exhibits 16, 17, 19, 20, 22,
25,26,28, 29, 30, and 32).

*Thie,date of thie letter that is Exhibit § was'May 11, 1994, However, it appears from the
testimony received at trial that at Teast the substance of the letter’s advice had been given
prior to May 9, 1994, (T. 29).




The Gaming Commission’s subsequent inquiry into Mr. Prescott’s suitability, for
licensure was vety wide-ranging. (See generally, Transcript of Gaming Commission
he'afi‘r’i'gfs" in File No, 94-0024°). The Gaming Commission looked not only at'Mr,
Prescott’s professional and personal history, but also at the manner in which LSI had
condiieted its gaming activities:and performed its corporate fimctions during Mr;

Preseott’s tenure with the corporation. For example; the Gaming Commission*s hearings.

focused a considerable degree of attention on a document that has come to be known as

“The Winston Report” — a report; prepared at the request of the Gaming Commissioni by.a
certified public accountant named Mervin Winston, that broadly examined atid criticized
the-corporate and business opetations of LSI arid its gmﬁing enterprise: (T, 116-117,
255-257, Gaming Commission Transcript 16~ 54).

It appears fromi the'record that after May 9, 1994 the nature of the Kelley Office’s
work did not radically change, though the work level increased. Mr, Prescott and the LSI
Board had been at.odds with the Community’s Garing Commission, Business Coungil,
and General:Council with respect to anumber ofissues fora considerable period before
May, 1994, :and the Kelley Office had been employed in effortsto defénd the Board’s
positions and to-attack positions of the Gaming Commission, the Business Coungil, and

the General Council, on a variety of issues; and after May.9; 1994, that situation

-continued.

By way of example, for a number of nonths before the Gaming Commission

began its hearings, Mr, Wiiston had been gathering miaterial for Lis report, and as'Mr,

5The trariseript of the Gam‘in‘g;Cbmmiss"iqn"s‘h'ear'ihg's was introdiiced by joint stipulation
at the-end oftrial (T. 342), and was ot given an identifying Extibit nuraber. Citations to
that Ttanscript will be to-“Gaming Commission transcript, at [p age].
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Winstori liad proceeded the LSI Board had grown coficerned about the efféct that his

activities and reports might have on the corporation and.on the Board. (T.253-254),

Consequently, during the period before May, 1994, the Board had asked the Kelley
Office to undertake the creation and implementation of a strategy to protect the
corporation-and the Board from the possible effects. of Mr. Winston’s inquiries, and.the
Kelley Ofﬁ'cc-'initiated a background investigation of Mr: Winston, with the notion of
ga_’the,ﬁﬁg ammunition that might have been of value in aftacking Mr; Winston’s
credibility; and those efforts continued after May 9, 1994. (T, 252-260)..

Similarly, duting the period before May, 1994, the Kelley Office on behalfof tke

“Board had sought to-engage federal authorities to reverse the policies of the Business

Council anid the General Couricil, had filed litigation for the same puirposes (T..21), and
tiad.cngaged an investigator (a Mr. Ron Urbanski) to inter alia examinethe personal
history of the Community’s Chairman (see e.g., Exhibit 15); and siniilar activities
continued after May 9, 1994. (See, e.g. Exhibit 18).

Attrial, testimony provided by the Kelley Office indjcated that in May, 1994,
members of the LSI Board believed it likely that they, like Mr. Prescott and Mz, Johnson,
‘would find their gaming licenses chdllenged by the Gaming Commission— hence tlie
breadth of the authorization in the Kelley Office’s May-9, 1994 retainer letter. (T, 44);

For detailed explanation.of the Kelley Office’s wotk, a voluriinious docuriientary
técord pertainifig to the services of the firm, and to the paymenits that weré made-by LSI
to thie firm, was admitted into eviderice at tfial, That record includes all of the itemized
billings and.summary billings that the Kelley Office sent LSI during the pertinent period.

Neither LS nor Mr. Prescott-offered any testimony from an actual client concerning

10
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these services and payments, however: Mr. Prescott did tiot teéstify, nor did‘any other past
or present officer of LS The only witnesses that discussed. the Kelley Office’s work, the
reasons for the work, and the persons or entities: for whom the-work was performed, were
two attorneys from the Kelley Office — Mr: Douglas Kélley, and Mr. Steven Wolter,

Mt Kelley arid Mr. Wolter weke exarnined in detail with respect to the natyre of
the work that they and others:in the Kelley Office did during the period in .question,
(Trial-transcript, pp 5 238 [testimony of Douglas Kelley], and pp 249 — 342 [testimony
of Steven Wolter]). Each was asked to address each day’s billing from the Kelley Office-
for the months in question; and-although each testified that tiis memory was affected arid
diminished by the time: thathad elapsed between performing the services and providing
the testimony; eachi indicated that he had a grasp of at least the broad outlines of the work
that the billings reflected.

The testimony of both Mz, Kelley and Mr. Wolter ¢an be summarized by saying
that, on'a daily basis from at Iéast Aptil, 1994 throughTune, 1994, attorneys and staff'of
the Kelley Office; and other pérsons engaged byfthé Kelley Office to assist by way of
im'es"tigat‘ibn, public relations, and/or.accounting or professional services, sometimes

were petforming work only orlargely for Mr, Prescott, sometimes were performing work

only or largely for LSI, and very often were performing work that, in Mr. Kelley's words,

was “mixed”. (See e.g:y. Transcript 106 — 108),
Some specific-examples will givea ,ﬂ‘avor.f_én this testimoniy. When Mr. Kelley
was-examiined by Steven Olson; counsel for LSL, thege exchianpes oconrred:
Q. Looking at the entry for your time for 5/2 of *94, what does it appear that you
were doing.on that day?

A, Well, it looks as though we-are drafting pleadings to-a possible removal
proceeding: It looks like we are attending a meeting at the Decathalon Club;,

11




it looks like I'th meeting with John Lee with régard to the sexual harassment
charges;. meetmg with Steve Wolter with regard to finances and so forth,

Q. And, again, the services-which you were performing on that date were in
anticipation of some action. belng taken by the Gammg Corimission agaifist
MTr; Prescott?

A, Yes; but I'would thitik that some of these would intermix services, that I
would not— if your talking the:subject here, that T-would not allocate to Mr,
Prescott,

(T. 90).

Or agaifi—

Q. Looking at-5/3 for your entry, your titne entry, what were you involved with
there? .

A. Well, it 16oks as tholigh ohe part of it is-clearly related to the Gaming
Commission because we were drafting d letter to them. I'don’t know what the.
phone:conversation-with Lenore was aboutt. “Review. audio tape of Channel 4
Dimension Repoit.” As Trecall, that was kirid of a broad-based attack by Tom
Gasperolli of Channel 4 that would have included charges pertinent to
Leonard and also to the: corporatxo generally, and then we met —had a phone-
conversation with Joe Plumer, I don’t recall exactly what that was-about, and
then Steve and I-and John met-about that.

(T.92)

Or agairi—

Q. And then looking at your eiitry for 5/4; what does it appear you were doing
that'day?

A, Well, first of all, it appears asthough I must have reviewed a memo by Steve
on possible-avenues of removal. You haven’t asked me, but Vin presuming
what the purpose of this is:are sofig of these chargeable to Leonard ornot, and
T woiild suspect that wonld be with régard to the defenise, “Mest with Steve
Wolter-and John Lee re: laundry list of accusations,” that-would be mixed,
because I think (hete wers: allegations against the corporation and allegations
against Leonard personally. “Challenge to the Gaming Commission
Ordinatice;” “Letter to the United: States Attortiey’s Office,”™ fliat would be:
corporate: “Review Mona, Meyer and McGrath op-ed, letter to employecs,” 1
think that would be Corporate “Phone conversation with Dentiis McGréth ré:
the same,” I think that would be Corporate. ‘The Dimension video, as I
mentioned befors, Itliik: woilld be mitked. The revénues. for Hinckley and
Mille Lacs and Mystic Lake’s would be mixed, “Review memo ré: removal
of Leonard Prescott and Bill J ohnson,™ T think that would be chargeable to
Leonard,
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Q. Do you have any way to conclude at thi 8 point in time how:much of the work,
this five hours that you spent, would be allocated to Leonard’s defense and
how muchi to'the corporation’s defense?

A. Tcan’t,

(T. 93-95).

Mr. Kelley candidly explained his difficulty, as follows:

THE'WIINESS: Just so— Yout Honor, 5o you understand, when Pm saying
-some of these things were mixed, some of them were attacks against the
corpofation genérally that they were not managing:theirmoney:appropriately
overall, they didn’t have-adequate contrdls, that kind of stuff, and then some of
these thingswere specifie to'Leonard very directly, and so that’s why it is ind of
‘Hard for us:to sort thern out,

(T. 95-96).
Mr: Wolter; in his testimony, attempted a more specific breakdown of the firm’s
billings:
BY MS. CHARLSON:

Q. Mr. Wolter, yow'have what has been marked as Exhilsit D before you. Do
you recognize BExhibit D?

What:is it?

Exchibit D is a schiedule that was preparéd by staffinvour office that went
through these bills that I took my-yellow: highlighter and pencil to and'just
transcribed by date, by billing person, by hour, by billing rate and then
ultimately the amount of the fee chatged for each of ths gervices that T
designated:to.be-atiributable:to:-Mr, Prescott’s indemnnification; and this;
apain, ig forthat period-of time thatis evidenced by the bills Which I
'béll;%éve Yo have.offered as Bxhibit C. Itis May 27, *94 through June.
27"

So just for an example; to make:sure I'mreading this:chart:inf Exhibit D
properly, can Ihave you turn in Bxhibit C to.Page 12 of the first
subsection of bills? Itis Bate stamp LS 200093,

Lhave it,

And that date-at.the top of the page is 5/11/94, the first entry, RMIY?
Correct,

Do we have the same thing?

Yes, )

Looking:at that, you have drawh a line through 8.5 hiurs, and below that,
in acircle in pencilis 6.5 hours. How do you interpret that?

>0 >

e

PCroPOoy
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Well, that pertains to the billing-entry for RMH, which is Rodney M,
Haggard our chief' investigator, and if you fook at the actual bill, 200093,
he had-an.eight-an-a-half hour charge:for that parficular day and then hasa
fairly detatled. breakdown of the services he provided, and because the
things T highlighted in yellow pertain to a ‘geting with Mt. Prescott about
background informatior, mecting with Mr. Kelley and me about
expungement and meeting with John Lee about sexual harassient and
paternity issues, 1 allocated six<and-a-half of that i ight-and-a-half hours to
M, Prescott, As I testified in deposition, this was my best good faith
efforf. As Itold Mr. Olson, there is more art than science at play here; but

T canite up.with six-and-a-half of that éight-and-a-half-hours.

Buit'a problem for all of this testimony dérives from the. manner in which the
Kelley Office dealt with certain requests made by LST in late 1994 and 1995, M.
Prescott’s licensing hearings before the Ganiing Commiission ended on Tune 22,1994 (T,
301), and his ganiing license was revoked by the G‘aﬂﬁhg;@ommissicm onJuly 1, 1994,
As-a consequence, Mr. Préscott’s tenure with LST ended, Then, in September, 1997, LSI
terminated'its relationship with the Kelley Office; retained the firm of Bluedog, Olson
and-Small, P.A., as its.new counsel; formallyrequested that the Kelley Office transfer to
the Bluedog office all of LSP’s files in the Kelley*Office’s possession; and, by
Resolution No: 9-29-94-002 (Exhibit 34), terminated its indemnification of Mr. Prescott’s
and Mr. Johinson’s efforts to protect their gaming licenses, LSI also requested that the
Kelley Office provide a detailed explanation of the billings that had been submitted to
LSI. {T. 62~ 63)

Biit the Kelley Office continued thigresfter to répresent Mr, Prescott in his efforts
to oveitura the Gaming Coitimission’s decision. And, indeed, the Kelley Office
continued to represent Mr. Prescott in matters relating to his tenure with LSI up to and

through the date of the trial in this matter, (T, 268), Therefore; in-consi dering how to
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respond to LSI’s-varjous requestsin late 1994, the Kelley Office retained My, Michael T,
Hoaver, & former director of the Minnesota Lawyer’s Professional Responsibility Board,
'asj,iné'ie'pendcm- counsel to assist.the Kelley Office in meeting its ethical obligations. (T.
6'3;-643 and 280). Through Mr. Hoover, the Kelley Office thefi turned over a considerable
afiiount of friaterial to LSI's hew counsel.. (See Bxhibits 38— 44),

The significance of that activity forithe present proceedings lies-in the fact that

Mr. Hoover asserted to LSP's new legal counsel that the last bill sent by Kelley Office to

LSI-for corporate services— that is, for any legal services other than those provided to-

Mr, Prescottunder his indemnification agreement.— was dated May 6, 1994. (Exhibits

38, 39,40, 41, 42, and 44); and the last work covered by the May 6, 1994 billing was
done on April 26, 1994. (Exhibits 13 and. 14),

The work that the Kelley Office did beginning on April 27, 1994 was, i fact,
billed to'LST, with a series of invoices that begah on May 19, 1994 and coritinued for
motiths thereafler. (Exhibits 15, 17, 18, 20, 21,23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 45,
46, and 47), And many of thoseé subsequent billitigs were captioned “General Corporate
Matters”, or*Corporate Matters”, of “General Co’xf)or‘a’te and Board of Director Matters”,
although the'Kelley Office began to generate billings captioned “Indemnification’ only
with work dating after Tune-27; 1994. But the fact remains that, in.1995; Mr, Hoover

informed: LSIthat no work. was done by the Kelley Office after April 26, 1994 that was

not protected by.a lawyer-client privilege munning to Mr. Prescott (a privilege that Mr.,

Prescott declined to waive), (Exhibit 44).
At trial, Mr, Wolter testified about the Kelley Office’s position with respect to

thesé matters, as follows:
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Are you familiat with Mr, Hoover?

Lam,

How afe you familiar with him?

Mike Hoover was a former director of the Lawyer’s Professiorial
Responsibility Board years ago. We engaged Mr. Hoover at some point
along, this cotitibuint, We used him from time o timeé in terms of
questions about ethics orquestions about the Lawyers Professional
Responsibility Rules, and specifically in this case; we engaged Mr.
Hoover when Mr: Olson, 1 believe it was, told us that we were being
termiinated by LSI and:began démanding that we retirn.certdin — or fum

PO PO

over certain files; and the coneern 'was at that time Mr, Olson was the chief

lawyer for the [Gammg] Commission which hiad issved its firial findings
on or about-July:3™ of °94. We were appealing from those findings, and.
wé thought that:it was very iinfair if we Were to be- fequired fo turn.over
everythmg thatmiight show where we hive been and where we wete going
in response to LSI’s:demands, so we.engaged Mr. Hoover; and we told
him gvetything hie needed to give us informed advice about the issue, and
we followed his advicein responding to reqguests from Mr,:Olson and LST,

(T. 279-280),
The exhibits in the record indicate that the amounts billed by the Kelley-Office

and the amounts paid by LSIduting the period in question were as follows:

e OnMay20, 1994, LSI paid $106,591.61°.

= On May20; 1994, LS] paid $64,561.07., (Exliibit 15).

*  On Jutte 3,1994, LSI paid-$95,868:21.. (Exhibits, 17, 18 and 19).

¢ OnJune 15,1994, LSIpaid $151,554,10. (Exhibit 23),

s OnJuly 15, 1994; LSI paid $101,814.47. (Exhibits 24 4nd 25),
‘The July 15, 1994 payinient is the Jast paymieént tendered by LS to the Kelley Office thiat

is reflected in the'record, Butthe record indicates that thereafter, on Noveinber4, 1994,

§ A portion of this payment apparently related to the bills of May 6, 1994, mentioned by
Mr: Hoover’s letters [see Exhibit B}; and two bills, totaling $3;518.00, ‘apparently were
sent by the Kelley Office to LSI on May 6, 1994, Eich of the two contained itemizations
dated May 3; 1994, One of the May 6, 1994 bills [Exhibit 38] totaled $3,030:50, and
stated that it was:.for Key Personnel Baokglound Investigationsy the other [Exhszts 13
and 14] totaled $487.50, and stated that it was for matters relating to the new menibers
issue,
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the Kelley Office withidiew $50, 252.06 from its lawyers trust account —apparently-from
motijes previously remitted by LSI, in one ormore of the foregoing payments ~ to pay
bills of August 4, 1994 and November 4, 1994, (Exibits 27, 28, 29, and 30).

From this, it appears that for services:rertdered from April 27, 1994 (the last dite
on which; according to Mr. Hoover, the Kelley Office performed work that was ot
protected by Mr. Prescolt’s attorney-client privilege) through' Deceniber, 1994, when flie
last of LSI's payments was drawn by the Kelley Office fronr its thist account LSI paid to
the Kelley Office 4 total of $516,871.46 (that i3, 4 foxél.'éf'$5'20;3'8'9.46 iir payments,

minug $3,518.00 represented by the two May 6, 1994 billings?),

IIY. Discussion.

A. The Scope of Mr. Prescott’s Principal Repayvment Liability.

Mr Prescott argues that the testimony of Mr. Kelley and of Mr, Wolter— the only
testimony adduced at trial concerning the:scope.of the Xelley Office’s work —
unambiguously affirmed that the Kelley Office was working for 1.ST and its Board of
Directors; as well as for Mr. Préscott, from April, 1994 through Decernber, 1994, Ard,
M. Prescoit asserts, payment for wark done on behalf of LSI, or on: behalf of its Board of
Diréctors, shouild not be his finansial responsibility. That argument follows from the
opinion that I reridered on F ebruary 17, 1994, wher I riled that summiary judgment could

1ot be awarded to LSI on the isste of damapes:

" In its witten atgumetit, LST has madg référerice to a conclusion, by the Kelley Office in
1995, that $513,797.85 was billed to Mr. Prescott, (Plainiliff"s Post-Trial Brief, at 3). But
despite considerable effort, the Coutt has been wtiable, from the record before it to. locate
areference to that amount, ot to caleulate how it was detived,
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The May 9™ 1994 letter states that Prescott agreed to “repay. the
Corporation all amounts-advanced in connection with any part [sic] the
defense of the above proceeding. . . The letter clearly states st the top
that the subject of the letter is “Shakopee Mdewakanton Stoux Community
Gaming Commission File No, 94-0024. There is no oiher proceeding
referenced above, and that file ntimBer is in fact the filé numiber of the
proceeding against Prescott, The phrase*‘the above proceeding” and the
reference toa very specific:proceéeding, make:it clear that rieither party
intended that Prescott would be liable for general corporate work the Kelly
firm did for ST or for othier directors, but instead that both parties
-intended for Prescottto be responsible only for the fees and costs
advanced to him in conrection with the litigation involvéd in “Shakopee
Mdewakanfon Sioux Community Gaming Commission File No, 94-0024”,
And evena cursory review of the billing record upon which LSI bases-its
approximately $515,000 figure makes it cledr that thiere is 4 fichial dispute
over-whether that figure includes more than just money used by Prescott in
ShakopeeMdewakariton Sioux Community Gaming Cormmission Filé No.
940024,

Mr Prescott also argties that he shiould tiot be-obliged to repay to LSI any fees or
expenses ineurred for work done by the Kelley Office oni his behalf that did not strictly
relate to his 1971 ‘felony;convic‘ﬁon, or to'his failure to disclose that conviction on certain
forms that he filed with the State of Minnesota. Tn making this argument, he points to the
final paragraph of his May 9, 1994 indemnification- which is worded as follows:.

L agree to repay the Corporation all amounts-advanced in connection with
any part the [5ic] defense of the above procéeding for which T am finally

adjudged to be lidble for negligence; fraud ormisconduet in the
performance of my diities to thé Corporation.

(Exhibit 7, [emphiasis added]).
Mr. Préscott notes:that it'was his 1971 pbnviic'tiO'n-, and his failure to-disclose fhat
conviction before it was expunged, that the Court of Appeals in 1999 cited in upholding
the Gaming Commission’s revogation‘of i gaming license, In re: Prescott Appeal, 1
Stiak A.C: 146, at 151 - 153 (July 30, 1999). That conviction, ke argues, was the only

“part [of] the defense of [the Gaming Corfimission’s] proceeding for which [Mr. Prescott
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- was] finally adjudged to be liable for negligence...”. Therefore, his argument goes, any
work that the Kelley Office did on his behalfrelating to any of the other matters that were
explored by the Gaming Commission in 1994 should not be the subject of the repayment
obligation;

The Plaintiff, -on the other hiand; asseits that all payments made by LSIto the
Kelley Office, from the May 20, 1994 paymerit oriwatd, were miade on behalfof My
Prescott and myist be repaid. In support of this argument, the Plaintiff first notes that the
May 9, 1994 Written Action 6f LSI's Boatd of Directors spedks thusly with respect to. -
M, Prescott’s repaymeéiit obligation:

FURTHER RESOVED, that Messrs, Presoott and Johnson shall refmbuis

the Company in the event that the non-interested directors find that 4 final
determination hias been made thereafter that Messrs, Prescott and Johnson
duties to the Comparty, Which deterniination shall not be established solely
"by-a permanent:suspension of the Licenses and which amount shall e
detérmined by-the nonsinterested directors.

(Exhibit 8),
From thiis provision, the Plaintiffs argue that on September 29, 1994, when the LS Board
of Directors:rescindéd its earlier approval of Mr. Prescott’s indemriification and
deménded repaymerit 6f all amounts that had then been paid to-the Kelley Office, the
rion-interested ditectors theteby (1) found that-a final determination had been miatle that
Mr. Presgott was guilty of negligence, fraud or misconduct; and (2) determined that
$520,389,46 — that is; all-amounts that had been paid to the Kelley Office from May 20,
1994 onward-—should be refinded by Mr: Prescott: (Exhibits 34 and 35; Plaintiff’s Post-

Trial Brief; at3).
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As:to Mr. Prescott’s assertion that from late April, 1994 through December, 1994
the Kelléy Office was working for LSI and for other directors 6f the corporation at the
same time it was working for Mr, Prescott, the Plaintiffs place heavy weight on the
representations that Mr, Hoover made in 1995 on behalf of the Kelley Office to the effeéct
that, after April 26; 1994, there was no wotk product generated by the Kelley Office that
was not protected by an attorney-client privilege runtiing to Mr. Prescott,

The Plaintiffs also point out that thefKS,lley Office used monies held in the firm’s

..On Noveriiber 4, 1994, the Kelley Law- Office removed $79,000 from
the mdemmﬂcatlon retainer account; to pay its August-and September,
1994 “General Corporate” bills.and to-pay for its November; 1994.
“Indemnification” bill. (Bx. 47). Theonly authorization which the Kellsy
Law Office received regarding the fundsgiven fo it i trust was the May 9,
1994 Written Action of the Board of Directors; which.only authorized
payment of indemnification expenses from the retainer.

The Kelley Law Office:could.lawfully withdraw from the.
indemnification account the filll smount billed to *General Corporate
Matfers”, detailed in exhibits 27 and 29, only if'every single one ofits
tasks billed as “Gerioral. Cotporate’ work in the August and September
1994 bills was for Defendant, ...

(Plaintiff’s Post~Trial Brief; at.11),

I have-considered all of these arguments,and have reviewed in detail the
testimony.elicited at trial and the exhibits submitted by the parties; including the
transeriptof the Gaming Commission’s: hearings concerning Mr, Prescott’s license; and T
April 27, 1994 through December, 1994 -must qua’lify as “expenses, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees, costs and disbursemeiits, incorred in connection with défénse of

[Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community Gaming Commission File No, 94-0024]", as
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described in Mr, Prescott’s May.9, 1994 letter. T also Have ¢oncliided that to interpret Mr.
Prescott’s indemnification ag Being limited only to the fees and expenses that somehow
related to his 1971 conviction and his failure to disclose that conviction would be both-
llogical and inconsistent with the history. of the parties” understanding,

I.do not doubt that both-the Board of Directors of LSI and the Kelley Office
attorneys were of the view; duringthe spring.and summer of 1994, that the work that the
Kelley Office was doing would help-protect and defend not only Mr. Prescott but also the
other members of the Board. At least until the' middle of the summer of 1994, it appears
thit the LSI Board and Mr. Prescott had a commurial interest. in defending LSI's
businesses, vindicating the Board’s actions, and extricating Mt. Prescott from his travail,
anid 1 entirely accept Mr. Kelley’s atid Mr, Wolter’s testimony that all members of the
LSI Board were conterned that they, too, soon would be subjected to the Gaming
Commission’s attention. And clearly; for-the brief petiod before he resigned, Mr;
Johnson.also was an intended-and.perhaps an actual beneficiary of the Kelley Office’s
work.

But it was Mr. Prescott alone who, from beginning to end, was the actusl and only
subject of the Gaming Commission’s proceedings; and the Gaming Commission’s
irigquiiry into his suitability was extremely wide-ranging, Having reviewed the transeript
of the Ganiiing Comintission’s proceedifigs, aid having considered the Kelley Office’s
billings, T do not see-anything that the Kelley Office did that was not, in some significant
way, designed to serve Mr. Prescott’s defense — be it thie resporise to the Winston Report,
the engagement of investigators to:review the background of Mr, Prescott’s. advefsades»,.

the engagement of Brnst & Young to provide expert accounting and financial evidence,
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or the engagement of a public relationy firm lo assist in defending against what were
perceived as:media attacks against-LSI and Mr, Prescott. ‘The »:fact,, that some of these
efforts may well also have served others ‘as well as Mr: Prescott, and nio doubt were
perceived both by the LSI Board and the Kelley Office to be serving others as well as Mr.
Prescott-does not negate the fact that the direct beneficiary of these: efforts was Mr.
Prescott; who acfually stood in:the dock,

As I havenoted, at least some of the Kelley Office’s work during the period in
question was a continuation of the type of work that was beitig donie prior to April 27, -
1994. For example, work appeats-to have continued oit.the challénges to the
Community’s new-adoption ordinance, and ori responding to earlier and ongoing media
criticism of Mr: Prescott and LSL (See e.g,, Bxhibit 15): So, if LSI and Mr; Prescott and
the Kelley Office had agreed at the time that this ongoing work was attributable to the
Kelley Office’s representation of LSI, it would be impossible to fault that agreement.

But that is not what happened. Instead, in 1995 the Kelley Office took the

position, through M. Hoover, that o work product produced by the Kelley Office’s,

after thie period covered by the firm’s May 6,.1994 billing, wasinot pistected fiom LSI's

viewing by a the attoimey-client felationship betwéen the firm and M, Prescott. Neither:

the Kelley Office’s witnésses, nor Mr, Préseott ini his atgument, has offered a response or
an explanation that negates the efféct.of that contemporaneous assértion of privilege; so 1
agree with the Plaintiff that the position taken by Mr. Prescoft and the Kelley Office in
1995 must control my-conclusions here,

I find firther support for my conelusion in the decision of the Kellsy Office to

utilize trust'acconnt mories — monies that had been committed solely to M. Prescott’s
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indemnification ~ to pay bills for wark that the. firm had earlier labeled *General
Corporate” work. Mr. Prescott did not then, and does not now, distance himse!f from the
firm’s decision. So those circumstances, too; powerfully substantiate the conclusion that
the label affixed to the Kelley Office’s billings; from April 27, 1994 onward, does-not
‘affect the coniclusion that the firm’s'work was being done to furtheér Mr, Prescott’s battle.
to save, and ultimately to récover; his gaming license.

I'also rejéct Mr. Prescott’s argument that, regardless of what amount of the Kelley
Offite’s work Was attributable to him, still'is repayment obligation under his
indemnification agreemeit rust be limited to:the amounts the Kelley Office was paid for
work that related to Mr. Prescott’s felony conviction. Again, Mr, Prescott bases his

argument on the one phrase;. in the letter. that the:Kelley Office drafted forhim: “lagree

to repay: the:Corporation all amounts advancedin connection with an

defense of the dbove proceeding for which Lam finall y adjudged to be liable for

éte.]”. (Exhibit 7). Biit that language, which appareritly suffers from at least

ofietypographical errof-or omission, stirely is notunanibiguous; so-it is appropriate to
considér its coritext. There is nio 1estimony. iit the record eitfier from M. Prescott ot from
any other person that was on the LSI Board of Directors on May 9, 1994. But Mi. Kelley
testified it-was his office’s interit, in déaling withi the advance indemnification issue, to
‘implement the advice that his office had sough‘t»and. received from the Lindquist-and
Vennum firm, (T. 35). Andthe Lindquist-and Vennum firm’s counsel was that LSI’s
directors and officers could receive advance indemnification; under LSY's Ariicles of
Incorporation and under the Commmnity’s Corporation Ordinance, provided that, inter

dlia:they executed, in advance, “a writtert undettaléing. . .to repay all amouits advanced if
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itis ultimately determined that they-are not entitled to indemnification urider Article. 14,
(Exhibit 5). The Lindquist.& Vennuwn firm rioted that if such an undertaking were not
teceived, the other “non-interested”™ memberts of LSI's Board might themsélves be liable
to fepay the-advanced amounits tg the corporation, in the everit that the “interested”
director or officer were-ultimately déteniined to have engaged in negligence, frand or
misconduct ifi the petformance of their duties, From this, I conclude that the
understanding of the parties, on'May 9, 1994, was that if Mr. Prescott ultimately did not
prevail in any aspect of the defense ofhis licensing proceeding because he was found to
have committed negligence, fraud or-misconduct; he would repay all amountsthat had
been.advanced for his defense by LSIL

AsThave noted above, I find those amouits to have totaled $516,871.46. 1
therefore conclude that that amount is Mr. Prescott’s principal repaytiient liability.

B. Interest Owing on thie Prinipal Repayment Liability, ;

As Mr. Prescott riotes in his Closing Arguriient Brief, the parties were silent on
the subject of whether: M. Prescott- would be obli‘g;sd to payinterest in any amount, in the
event'of he were obliged to repdy LSI's advances. His May.9, 1994 letter did not discuss
the subject, nor did the May 9, 1994 Written Action of LSI’s. Board of Directors Taken in
Lien of a Meeting — nor, for that matter, did the Lindquist & Vennuni advice to the
Kelley Office. (Exhibits 7,8, and 5); Mr. Pregcott coritends that this silence means that
the:parties formed rio Agreement on'thie subject, arid abiserit; such an agreement interest
should ot be:owing: The Plainfiff, o the other hand, asserts that advanced
indemnifieation is, by definition, “essentially & decision to advance:eredit”, citing

Advanced Mining Systems v. Fricke, 623 A.2d-82(De. Ch, 1992); and inasmuch-as Mr.
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Prescott essentially had the use of LSI’s money from the time it was paid to the Kelley
Office; interest must be owing from that date.

The Plainitiff asserts that such interest should be caleulated based on the amount:
that LST would have teceived if LSI had deposited the advanced monies in a secure find.
Plaintiff presented testimony of Mr. Kyle Kossol, the Vice-President for Finance and
Systems, who calculated the amounts of interest that would have-accrued on the-principal
paid by LSI, compounded on a monthly basis, if those-amounts had been invested as
LST’s other funds-had been invested, in “money market funds”, (T.243-249), In
response; Mr. Prescott has argued that, if interest in fact is owing; it should be post-
judgment interest only, caleulated as interest on federal court judgments is calculated,
pursuant to- 29 U,8.C. §1961.

Ori these issues, I agree with the Plaintiff that interest must bie paid on the
amounts advanced by LSI, The notion that underlay Mt. Prescott’s undertaking was that
he would make LSI whole, if he ultimately were found to have committed negligence,
frand or misconduct. By necessity, LSI'cannot be made whole unless the advanced
amounts-are:repaid with. interest., And as to the rate of interest, T also agree with the
Plaintif{’s proposition that the réteso.f interest must be-reasonable. ButT agree with Mr,
Prescott that the provisions of 28 1;8.C. §1961 establish what reasonable interest is Kere:
Mr. Prescott correctly notes that in the absence of applicable' Community law on a
subject, this Conrt-often has looked to federal law for guidince — though, absent clear
Congressional directive, such law is hot controllisig. There is no applicable positive
Community law on the interest ratés applicable to:judgment, and T believe that adopting

thefﬂoa’ti’ng rate established by 28 U.S.C. §1961 — which has the advantages of both being
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easily ascertainable and being grounded in the most basic economic realities — is clearly

appropriaté; And in this case, I'believe that adopting the rate both for pre<judgment and

post:-judgment interest (taking today's date as the date of judgment) also is appropriate.

Under federal law, which T'look to'here; the-award of post-judgment interest is mandatory
(except in instances that have no-applicability to this case); but the:award of pre<judgment

interest js a matter lefl to the sound discretion of the courts. Florence Nightengale

Nursing Service, Inc v, Blue Cross Blie Shield, 41 F.2d 1476 (11th Cir; 1995). Here, pre-

judg‘nient interest clearly is appropiiate, because the Plaintiff could not be. made whole
absent an award of presjudgmient interest; but I see no reason — and the Plaintiff has
stiggested none— to avward-a greater or different intcreét rate for the presjndgment period
than. for the post-judgment period. - Accordingly, interest on the award of $516,871.46
shall be computed according to the-provisions of 28 U.8.€ §19618,

C. Attorneys fees.

ThePlaintiff seeks its reasonable attornsys fees, pursuant to the provisions of
section 67 of the Community’s Corporation Ordinance, as amended by Resolution No. 7-
27-94-001: The Plaintiff points out that that section says that in an action brought undet
the Corporation Ordinance, “A prevailing party in any action shill be awarded costs and
reasonable attorneys fees.” Mr. Prescott has hot responded to the Plaintiff's claiin.
Acoa‘rdin"glyi,'théﬁaPl'z’i,intiff shall haveuntil Juite 10, 2005 to submit-an itemized claim for

redsonable-attorrieys’ fees arid costs; Mr. Prescott shall have thirty-days; Mr. Prescott

* The method of calculating interest under 28 U.5,C. §1961 was changed by Congress in
2000. For the: ‘putposes-of this casé, the:method that the statiite mandated before the
change shall be applied.for the period from J 1y 1, 1994, when the Gaming Commission

revoked Mr, Prescott’s license to Diecember 21, 2000, when the statute was amended and,

fhie-method preseritly matidated by the statiite shall be applied for the period.after
December 21, 2000..
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shall have until July 11, 2005 to respend; and the Plaintiff shall have until July.25, 2005
to reply:
ORDER
For the foregoing reasons, and based on all'of the pleadings and materialsfiled
herein, it is ORDERED:

1, That the Defendant shall pay to the Plaintiff the sum of $516,871.46,
as reimbursement for attorneys fees and expenses advariced in 1994 by
the Plaintiffto the Deferidant;

2. That the Deferidant shall pay initerest to' the Plaintiff on the piincipal
sum-of the judgmert herein-at the rates gpecified by 28 U.8.C. §1961,
for the period from July 1, 1994, such interest to be calculated as. more
fully described in footnote 7 of this Memorandum Opinion and Order;

3. The Plaintiff may submit, torthe‘Court and the Defendant, an itemized
statement of ifs reasonable attorneys fees and costs not later than June
10, 20057 ths D.efendantmay silbmit 4 response not Jatei than July 11,

2005; and the Plaifitiff may subinit a'reply fiot later thati Tily 25, 2005,

May 11, 2005

\, TydzeJoht B. Thoobon
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